FILED
06-08-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff - Respondent
v.
Jacob T. Thornburg, Defendant - Appellant

Case Number on Appeal 2023AP000600

Brief of Appellant

Circuit Court Case Number 2023TR000156
Eau Claire County, District 3
Judge John F. Manydeeds

Submitted By:
Jacob T. Thornburg
26881 La Alameda #332
Mission Viejo, CA 92691
951-837-6178

Statement of Issues

1. Whether the circuit court erred in finding Thornburg guilty of violating state statute 346.57(2) by not examining the cause of the collision in question. The cause of the collision is relevant in determining whether or not a driver violated state statute 346.57(2) because the law indicates that collisions are the main criterion of determining violation.
2. Whether the circuit court failed to provide due process by:
 - A. Interrupting Thornburg's closing arguments;
 - B. Directing the prosecuting attorney to give closing arguments before Thornburg was allowed to present his case;
 - C. Prematurely ending Thornburg's witness statements while there was still truth to be ascertained;
 - D. Failing to recognize that Mr. Van Daalwyk misrepresented witness testimony in closing arguments;
 - E. Failing to recognize inconsistent witness testimony.

Statement of Oral Arguments and Publishing

It is the stance of the appellant, Jacob Thornburg, that this brief fully presents and meets the issues on appeal and fully develops the theories and legal authorities so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost to the litigant. It is also the stance of Jacob Thornburg, that the opinion on this case should be published to bolster case law for the sake of due process and clarity of judgment in the relevant statutes.

Statement of the Case

Nature of the Case

This case is an appeal from the Eau Claire County circuit court, district three, in the state of Wisconsin.

Procedural Status of the Case

This civil case was heard in the Eau Claire County Circuit Court of Wisconsin as *State of Wisconsin v. Jacob T. Thornburg*. Following the trial in circuit court, an appeal was filed by Jacob T. Thornburg.

Court Proceedings

The case was called at 1:33 PM on March 20, 2023, with all appearances via Zoom. Defendant Jacob T. Thornburg appeared by video.

Prosecuting attorney Jansen James Van Daalwyk appeared by video for the State of Wisconsin. When the parties were ready to proceed, the state called Trooper Alan Christian, who was sworn in and testified, identifying Thornburg. The State offered exhibit #1 and moved to show the squad video, which was granted. The squad video began showing at 3:54 minutes and stopped at 6:24 minutes.

Thornburg requested the video play of the statement of the other driver, and the State objected. The court allowed the playing of the squad video of the statement of the other driver. Thornburg requested to admit photos of the damage on his vehicle from the collision, and the State objected to the relevancy of the photos. The court instructed Thornburg to ask questions as to reasonable and imprudent speed. The State rested. Arguments were heard by both parties. Thornburg was sworn in and testified. New arguments were added by the State. Thornburg then attempted to provide his closing argument.

Disposition in the Circuit Court

The circuit court found that the State had met the burden and found Thornburg guilty with a fine of \$213.10 with 60 days to pay the fine.

Statement of Facts

On the evening of December 2, 2022, the appellant Jacob Thornburg was driving on I-94 eastbound in Eau Claire County (R14:4, 5 and 7). Thornburg had been driving down this two lane highway for multiple hours when they encountered dangerous amounts of ice in the right lane (R14:20). He was already driving slower than other drivers before observing the ice on the road (R14:26). At this time, there was one other driver driving behind Thornburg in the right lane (R14:9).

Thornburg observed dangerous amounts of ice in the right lane and made a quick decision to maneuver away from the dangerous ice (R14:26, 27). At this time, there were no other drivers in the left lane, and so he maneuvered into the middle of the two lanes (R14:9). He also slowed his speed to counteract the ice (R14:25). Thornburg did not leave the right lane and did not stop the vehicle but rather, he continued to drive forward (R14:28). Thornburg was then hit from behind by the other driver (R14:26).

After the accident, Trooper Alan Christian arrived at the scene and questioned Jacob Thornburg (R14:5). Thornburg stated to Trooper Christian at the scene that upon engaging with the ice hazard, he swerved away from the ice hazard (R14:27). There was another accident that was visible from where Thornburg pulled over following the collision (R14:26).

Trooper Christian issued Thornburg a citation for allegedly violating State statute 346.57(2) (R1). Thornburg pleaded not guilty to this citation (R2).

On March 20, 2023, the State prosecution, represented by attorney Mr. Van Daalwyk, presented his case to the court by interviewing Trooper Alan Christian (R14). Trooper Christian testified that there were three other accidents that evening on I-94 eastbound (R14:7). Video evidence entered by Mr. Van Daalwyk during direct examination of Trooper Christian was not provided to Thornburg prior to the trial (R14:6, 14).

During cross examination, Thornburg moved to enter photos of the damage to his vehicle during the collision, but the state objected to their relevancy and was sustained (R14:17-19). During redirect

examination by Mr. Van Daalwyk, Trooper Christian testified that Thornburg stated that he failed to control his vehicle at the scene of the accident (R14:20). During recross examination by Thornburg, Trooper Christian testified that Thornburg did not make that statement at the scene of the accident (R14:21). Later, during closing arguments, Mr. Van Daalwyk used this statement by Trooper Christian to argue that Thornburg was guilty of violating 346.57(2) (R14:23).

Following Trooper Christian's testimony, the court invited Mr. Van Daalwyk to provide a final argument without first giving Thornburg the opportunity to testify (R14:23). Following this, Mr. Van Daalwyk delivered a final argument (R14:23-24). It was Mr. Van Daalwyk's position that the ice on the road was merely the weather conditions as described in 346.57(2) (R14:23). After Mr. Van Daalwyk's argument, the court invited Thornburg to make a final argument (R14:24). During Thornburg's attempt at a final argument, the court interrupted when he mentioned facts that had yet to be brought to light under sworn testimony, particularly the allegation of whether Thornburg got a concussion during the accident (R14:24-25). Thornburg had still not been allowed to testify or provide his case at this time (R14). The court then reopened the case to allow Thornburg to testify (R14:25).

Thornburg testified to swerving away from ice into the middle of two lanes after observing the hazardous ice on the road (R14:27). During Thornburg's testimony, the court interrupted him to invite Mr. Van Daalwyk to cross-examine him (R14:27). Thornburg was interrupted by the court during his testimony, during the cross and re-cross examination of Trooper Christian, and during his closing arguments (R14). Thornburg was also stuttering significantly throughout the trial and struggling to speak coherently (R14). Thornburg never got to clarify the details of the concussion during his testimony (R14). Neither the court nor Mr. Van Daalwyk pursued any line of questioning about this detail during Thornburg's testimony (R14:25-28).

Following Thornburg's testimony, the court invited Mr. Van Daalwyk to add to his closing argument (R14:29). In addition to his closing argument, Mr. Van Daalwyk argued that Thornburg was guilty of violating statute 346.57(2) because he allegedly caused the accident,

which was not established in sworn testimony and was deemed as irrelevant earlier in the trial (R14:23). He also argued that Thornburg saw multiple accidents on the road prior to the collision, which was also not established in sworn testimony (R14:23).

Then, the court invited Thornburg to give a final argument (R14:29). During Mr. Thornburg's final argument, the court did not allow him to finish, but interrupted him after six lines of speaking (R14:29) to declare that the State had met its burden and render judgment (R14:29-30). For his closing argument, Mr. Van Daalwyk was allowed to speak without interruption from the court for a total of 30 lines (R14:23-25, 29). During his closing argument, Thornburg was interrupted several times by the court and only spoke for a total of 22 lines, and only six of those lines were after Thornburg was finally allowed to present part of his case (R14:24, 25, 29). No explicit time limit was established in court regarding testimony or closing argumentation at any point (R14).

Arguments

Issue 1: Whether the circuit court erred in finding Thornburg guilty of violating state statute 346.57(2) by not examining the cause of the collision in question. The cause of the collision is relevant in determining whether or not a driver violated state statute 346.57(2) because the law indicates that collisions are the main criterion of determining violation.

Argument 1.1.

Because the cause of the collision is relevant to the case, because Thornburg did not cause the collision, and because Thornburg drove used due care, Thornburg is not guilty of violating statute 346.57(2).

1.1.a.

The cause of the collision is relevant to the case.

Thornburg sought to enter photos of damage to his own vehicle following the collision on December 2, 2022, into evidence. The motion was denied on the State's objection that they were not relevant to the case (R14). However, because these photos would have given the court insight as to the cause of the collision, the court should have seen the photos as part of understanding the case.

State statute 346.57(2) indicates that a driver must have such control of their vehicle so as to avoid colliding with any object, person, vehicle, or other conveyance. Because the criterion for speed management and vehicle control listed in the statute is avoiding a collision and using due care, the collision that occurred on December 2, 2022, and its facts are relevant to this case. This is why the court's rejection of evidence that the collision was not caused by Thornburg is an incorrect interpretation of the statute.

If the court mistakenly believes that Thornburg is at fault for this collision, the court could reason that Thornburg did violate state

statute 346.57(2) because of its criterion. If Thornburg had caused the collision, he would be liable for violating this statute, and if another driver caused the collision, then that driver would be liable for violating the statute. Therefore the cause of the accident and evidence of the responsible party is relevant to this case.

1.1.b.

Thornburg did not cause the collision and is therefore not guilty of violating State statute 346.57(2).

At the start of the accident in question, Thornburg was in the right lane driving in front of the other driver who was also in the right lane. Upon engaging with a dangerous road hazard, Thornburg maneuvered partially into the left lane, where there were no other vehicles, and then pressed on the brakes (R14). Thornburg did not leave the right lane, and did not stop their vehicle, but was then struck from behind by the other driver (R14).

Because the other driver struck Thornburg from behind, it is more likely than not that the other driver violated the statute where they failed to prevent themselves from colliding with Thornburg's vehicle, which was in front of them. Generally, striking a vehicle with another from behind while both are traveling forward in the same direction is considered negligence according to statute 895.045. Vehicles are required to travel at a safe distance from each other on the highway (346.14), especially in consideration of the weather conditions.

Therefore, it is more likely than not that the collision in question was a loss of control of vehicle by the other driver, and not by Thornburg.

Jacob Thornburg did not collide with another vehicle, object, or person while driving on the evening of December 2, 2022. He was, however, the victim of a collision that was not his fault. This does not make him guilty of violating statute 346.57(2).

Additionally, since there were no other vehicles in the left lane, and since Thornburg had observed that the right lane was potentially

dangerous, Thornburg had the legal right under state statute 346.13(4) to stay in the middle of the two lanes to avoid the ice hazard. This statute states: that a driver may “to the extent necessary, extend into another lane intended for travel in the same direction.” Since Thornburg had observed the presence of dangerous ice in the right lane, it became necessary and reasonably safe that Thornburg temporarily move into the center of the two lanes. Additionally, since Thornburg had reason to fear that the right lane was dangerous, Thornburg had the right to maneuver to most safely avoid the expected danger, as was argued in State of Wisconsin v. Brown in 1982.

Finally, it is physically impossible that Thornburg could have caused the collision with the other driver. In the closing arguments, Mr. Van Daalywk made a claim that contradicts physics when he alleged that Thornburg caused himself to be rear-ended. This statement is a physical contradiction, because by definition, a rear-ended vehicle must be driving slower than the vehicle behind them. In order for the trailing vehicle to collide with the leading vehicle, the trailing vehicle must be going at a speed greater than that of the leading vehicle or it could never catch up with the first vehicle to cause the collision. Therefore, since a rear ended accident occurred, since both vehicles were in the right lane, and since Thornburg’s vehicle was the leading vehicle, he cannot have been going too fast to cause the collision.

In this way, the laws of physics would have to change in order for Jacob Thornburg to be at fault for this accident. The fact that Thornburg was driving ahead of the other driver in the same lane is substantial proof that he could not have caused the accident and is not guilty of violating this statute.

1.1.c.

Jacob Thornburg used due care before and during the incident.

The criteria for violating this statute also involves using due care on the road. “Due care” can be defined as engaging in just, proper, and sufficient care based on given circumstances to show the absence of

negligence (Black Laws Dictionary Online). Additionally, “due care” can also be defined as the implication that a person has not been careless (Black Laws Dictionary Online).

In this way, if a driver were to show carelessness in how they react to an ice hazard, then that person would be guilty of violating statute 346.57(2). However, since Jacob Thornburg was not careless in his reaction to the hazard, and since he did use sufficient care and took proper actions in the given circumstances, he did not violate this statute.

Mr. Van Daalwyk first argued that Thornburg allegedly failed to use due care by allegedly going too fast for the road conditions and causing the accident (R14). Since Thornburg was hit from behind, he could not have been going too fast to cause a rear ended collision.

Additionally, Mr. Van Daalwyk argued that Thornburg allegedly failed to use due care because he allegedly was going too fast for the weather conditions prior to being engaged with the ice hazard (R14). Thornburg was not going too fast for the weather conditions, and this is shown by the way that he safely responded to the ice hazard.

Mr. Van Daalwyk’s argument is essentially that because Jacob Thornburg was engaged with an ice hazard, he must have been going too fast. This argument ignores the nature of ice hazards. Ice is an extremely dangerous hazard and regardless of a person’s speed, if they do not react appropriately to the hazard, the ice can force them off the road or cause them to slide and lose control of their vehicle. Ice is so dangerous that a pedestrian walking two miles per hour could slide on ice and fall over. Any driver, regardless of their speed, has the potential to become engaged with an ice hazard.

Simply experiencing a dangerous ice hazard does not mean that a driver is going too fast, that they have lost control of their vehicle, or that they are driving carelessly. The reason a driver should drive slower in bad weather conditions is that driving slower increases the amount of time a driver has to react to potentially dangerous hazards,

and in this case, Thornburg's low speed allowed him enough time to safely react to the presence of the ice hazard.

In Thornburg's testimony, he showed that he had had enough time to react to the ice hazard whereby he maneuvered his vehicle left, away from the ice hazard, and slowed his vehicle down while continuing down the highway.

Had Thornburg not been using due care, he may not have had time to react to the ice hazard and it would be most likely, based on the described trajectory of the ice hazard, that he would have been forced off the road. Thornburg was not forced off the road because he was using due care and maintained control of his vehicle (R14). Had Thornburg not been rear-ended by the other driver, it is more likely than not that he would not have hit any objects or vehicles and managed to safely continue down the road after avoiding the ice.

It is also important to note that the ice was particularly dangerous in the location that Thornburg experienced the ice hazard. Thornburg was not the only driver to experience the ice hazard on that highway in Eau Claire County, as there were three other known accidents within the same area and on the same road as the accident where Thornburg was struck (R14). Additionally, one accident was so close to the accident where Thornburg was stuck that the crash site was visible from where Thornburg had pulled off the road (R14). Therefore, it is more likely than not that all the drivers in the other accidents were not speeding at the same time in the same spot, but rather that there was unreasonable amounts of dangerous ice in that particular area on the road that became hazardous to multiple drivers. The fact that multiple other drivers experienced bad ice in the same area indicates that it is unlikely that Thornburg was driving carelessly but that he used due care to safely navigate a perilous ice hazard, succeeding where other drivers had failed. Thornburg had been driving safely down the highway for multiple hours in similar weather conditions without any issues (R14). Then, when he encountered the ice hazard, Thornburg reacted safely by maneuvering away from the ice hazard into the center of the two lanes (R14).

Conclusion of Argument 1.1

The criteria for violating this statute includes that the driver's speed is so great that it causes a collision or shows a lack of due care. Because Jacob Thornburg did not cause a collision, because his speed was not too great, and because he used due care, Thornburg did not violate this statute and should therefore be found not guilty of violating statute 346.57(2).

Argument 1.2.

None of the actions Thornburg took to avoid a road hazard were dangerous, and the fact that Thornburg made such choices indicates that he had not lost control of his vehicle.

1.2.a.

Upon engaging with the ice hazard, Thornburg made the following observations and took the following actions (R14):

ACTION 1: Thornburg observed the presence of the ice hazard in the right lane.

ACTION 2: Thornburg maneuvered away from the direction of the ice hazard.

In sworn testimony, Thornburg stated that after engaging with the ice hazard in the right lane, he swerved away from the ice hazard into the center of the two lanes. The term "swerve" is defined as a change or cause to change direction abruptly (Oxford Languages Online Dictionary). Due to the presence of the ice hazard and the fact that there were no other drivers in the left lane, this was the safest decision to avoid the ice hazard.

During the trial, Mr. Van Daalwyk represented the ice hazard as nothing more than weather conditions, but this is not the case. Ice is a dangerous road hazard, and if a driver is not careful about how they respond to the ice hazard, they can easily be pulled off the road by the ice, regardless of the speed they are going. According to Trooper Christian, there were three other accidents on that same road in the

same area, and so this was not just bad weather (R14). It was a dangerous hazard that Thornburg experienced and safely responded to.

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