FILED
09-15-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WISCONSIN
DISTRICT III

CASE NO. 2023AP0006000

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

JACOB T. THORNBURG,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT IN
EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT
THE HONORABLE JOHN F. MANYDEEDS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Jansen Van Daalwyk
Assistant District Attorney
Eau Claire County
721 Oxford Avenue
Eau Claire, WI 54703
(715) 839-4828

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

Moreover, the Wisconsin Attorney General's Office has provided guidance when proving a violation of Wisconsin Statute §346.57(2) or (3). Proof of a violation of (2) and (3) relating to situations that require reduced speed by motor vehicles would not require a showing of a collision with an object, person, or vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the highway. 52. Op. Atty. Gen. 30 (1963).

Mr. Thornburg mistakes the purpose of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2). Mr. Thornburg argues that a collision that occurred on December 2, 2022, is relevant in determining whether the Appellant failed to keep his vehicle under control. Additionally Mr. Thornburg argues that he did not cause the collision, drove using due care, and is therefore not guilty of violation Wis. Stat. §346.57(2). However, Mr. Thornburg mischaracterizes the issue and does not show that the trial court abused their discretion in sustaining the State's objection.

It was not err of the trial court to sustain the State's objection to the introduction of Mr. Thornburg's photos of a collision with another vehicle.

Mr. Thornburg's violation of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2) is based on Mr. Thornburg failing to keep his vehicle under control given the conditions of the road on December 2, 2022. The State presented evidence that there were hazardous road conditions, including icy and snowy roads that would require somebody to slow down significantly. (R.14:20). Mr. Thornburg was initially traveling in the right lane, upon engaging ice, Mr. Thornburg went into the left lane partially and pressed the brakes. Additionally, there were other crashes that occurred that night that would require a driver of a motor vehicle to exercise caution. *Id.*

Therefore, the judgment for violating Wis. Stat. §346.57(2) rests on the fact that Mr. Thornburg encountered a situation that required reduced speed by Mr. Thornburg, and does not require a showing of a collision with an object, person or vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the highway. The State relied on the

body cam footage of Trooper Christian, Mr. Thornburg's statements, and Trooper Christian's testimony in proving a violation of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

The trial court sustained the State's objection based on accepted legal standards and facts of record. (R 14; 18). The trial court used their discretion in sustaining the objection. *Id.* Furthermore, the trial court found due to the accepted legal standards and facts of record that it did not matter if there was a collision with a vehicle, but whether Mr. Thornburg's vehicle was traveling at a greater than is reasonable speed under the conditions and having regard for the actual and potential hazards then existing. *Id.*

Therefore, the Court should find that the trial court did not err in sustaining the States's objection to admission of photos of Mr. Thornburg's collision. As stated above, the trial court is given broad discretion and exercised their discretion using accepted legal standards and facts of record.

I.2. There was sufficient evidence to find Mr. Thornburg guilty of violating Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

The Appellate Court will not disturb trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Aderemi*, 406 Wis. 2d 132 (WI App. 2023). When evidence in the record consists of disputed testimony and a video recording, the court of appeals will apply the clearly erroneous standard of review when reviewing

the trial court's finding of fact. *State v. Walli*, 334, Wis.2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898, 2011 App. 86 (WI App. 2011).

Mr. Thornburg argues that none of the actions he took to avoid a road hazard were dangerous, and the fact that he made such choices indicate that he had not lost control of the vehicle.

The Court found otherwise that the body cam footage of Trooper Christian, Mr. Thornburg's statements made in Court, and Trooper Christian's testimony were sufficient to prove a violation of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2). Mr. Thornburg has not made a showing that the trial court's factual findings were clearly erroneous.

The body cam footage of Trooper Christian, Mr. Thornburg's statements, and Trooper Christian's testimony, contain sufficient facts to find Mr. Thornburg guilty of violating Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

Therefore, this Court should affirm the Trial Court's Judgment.

I.3. Swerving is evidence to support a violation of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

Whether swerving is evidence to support a violation of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2) is a question of statutory interpretation. Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *State v. Rector*, 407 Wis.2d 321 (2023).

Wisconsin Statute §346.57(2) states, "No person shall drive a vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard

for the actual and potential hazards then existing. The speed of a vehicle shall be so controlled as may be necessary to avoid colliding with any objects, person, vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the highway in compliance with legal requirements and due care.”

Mr. Thornburg argues that swerving is not illegal and can be necessary to avoid a collision. Thus, Mr. Thornburg ultimately argues that swerving away from an ice hazard was the safe and right decision and did not violate Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

Swerving is evidence to support a finding that a vehicle was driving at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and potential hazards then existing. Here, Mr. Thornburg has conceded to the fact that he swerved his vehicle away from an ice hazard on the road. That is evidence supporting a finding of a violation of Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

Under Wis. Stat. §346.57(2), “No person shall drive a vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard for the actual and potential hazards then existing.” Thus, the fact that Mr. Thornburg swerved his vehicle, is evidence to support that Mr. Thornburg was driving his vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard for the actual and potential hazards then existing.

Furthermore, the State presented evidence that there were hazardous road conditions on December 2, 2022, including icy and snowy roads that would require

somebody to slow down significantly. (R.14:20). Given the hazardous road conditions on December 2, 2022 and the fact that Mr. Thornburg swerved his vehicle to avoid ice, support an inference that Mr. Thornburg was traveling at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions then existing.

Therefore, the Court should affirm the Trial Court's judgment in the above-mentioned matter.

II.1. The Trial Court interrupting Mr. Thornburg's closing arguments is not a violation of Mr. Thornburg's Procedural Due Process Rights.

Under the Wisconsin Constitution, Article I Section 8, affords the Appellant his procedural due process rights. *Thorp v. Town of Lebanon*, 235 Wis. 2d 610, 642 612 N.W.2d 59 (2000). The procedural due process clause protects individuals from governmental "denial of fundamental procedural fairness." Id. The Respondent must show a deprivation by state action of a constitutional protected interest in "life, liberty, or property without due process of law. Id.

When a procedural due process violation is claimed, the first question is whether Mr. Thornburg has been deprived of a constitutionally protected interest in life, liberty, or property. If such a deprivation has occurred, we reach the second level of analysis: what process was provided and whether it was constitutionally adequate. *Zinerman v. Burch*, 494 U.S. 113, 110 S.Ct. 975, 108 L.Ed.2d 100 (1990).

Additionally, in State v. Petit, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals stated that when arguments are supported by only general statements, the Court may decline to review issues inadequately briefed. *State v. Petit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Mr. Thornburg alleges that the Trial Court interrupted his closing argument and as a result he was denied the right to a fair and impartial hearing in violation of his procedural due process rights. However, Mr. Thornburg has not made a showing of a violation of his procedural due process rights nor stated a claim for relief under the procedural due process clause.

Included in Mr. Thornburg's argument, is an inadequately briefed argument regarding a potential violation of Section 202 of The Americans with Disabilities Act. *Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990*, 42 U.S.C.A. ch.126 §12101 (1990). Mr. Thornburg argues that the Court has a responsibility to provide reasonable accommodation to a cognitively disabled defendant and that the Trial Court was informed of his concussion.

The State argues that Mr. Thornburg's argument regarding a potential violation of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Acts is underdeveloped and is a general statement. *Id.* Therefore, the State respectfully requests that the Appellate Court decline to review this argument. *Petit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627 (Ct. App. 1992).

Moreover, The State argues that Mr. Thornburg has not been deprived a constitutionally protected interest in life, liberty, or property. Mr. Thornburg was provided the opportunity to have a closing argument. (R 14: 25, 29). Mr. Thornburg has failed to state a claim for which relief can be granted.

Therefore, the State respectfully requests that the Court affirm the trial court's judgment in this matter and find that Mr. Thornburg was not denied his procedural due process rights during the court trial.

II.2. The Trial Court directing the State to give closing arguments before Mr. Thornburg was allowed to present his case was harmless error.

Whether an error was harmless is a question of law, subject to independent review of the Court. *State v. Magett*, 2014 WI 67, ¶29, 355 Wis. 2d 617, 850 N.W.2d 42 (2014). An error is harmless if “the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error. *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). The overall strength of the State’s case is often an important consideration. *State v. Deadwiller*, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362, 2013 WI 75 (2013). Other considerations include the frequency of the error and nature of the defense. *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶46, 343 Wis.2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270 (2012).

Mr. Thornburg argues that after the State finished their examination of Trooper Christian, the Trial Court immediately directed the State to give closing arguments and this unfairly disadvantaged Mr. Thornburg. (R14).

The State concedes that the Trial Court allowed the State to present their closing argument before Mr. Thornburg was allowed to present their case. (R 14, 23). However, this error was harmless and was corrected by the trial court. (R 14; 25). After the State made their initial closing argument, Mr. Thornburg then began making his closing statement. (R 14; 24). During Mr. Thornburg's closing statement, Mr. Thornburg stated that he had a concussion. *Id.* The trial court then stopped him and stated that he did not state during the case that he had a concussion. (R 14; 25). The trial court offered Mr. Thornburg to reopen the case and let him testify as a witness. *Id.* Mr. Thornburg wished to testify as a witness. *Id.* It was at this time, Mr. Thornburg made comments regarding the incident. (R 14; 26). After Mr. Thornburg was finished, the court asked Mr. Thornburg that he thought he heard on the video that Mr. Thornburg told Trooper Christian say he was swerving. (R 14; 27). Mr. Thornburg then replied that he did say to Trooper Christian that he was swerving. *Id.* After this, the State was able to cross-examine Mr. Thornburg. *Id.* Mr. Thornburg did not have any other witnesses to call and the court proceeded with closing arguments. (R 14; 29).

The State argues that their case was strong to find Mr. Thornburg guilty of violating Wis. Stat. §346.57(2). The State presented evidence from Trooper

Christian, Trooper Christian's dash cam footage, and showed Mr. Thornburg's admission of swerving his vehicle. Therefore, the State argues that their case is strong to support that Mr. Thornburg is guilty of violating Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

The trial court correctly reopened the case to allow Mr. Thornburg to testify as a witness. The error was corrected, and was harmless.

Therefore, the State is respectfully requesting that the Court find that this error was harmless and affirm the Trial Court's judgment in the above-mentioned matter.

II.3. Mr. Thornburg's Argument that the Court ended Mr. Thornburg's witness statements while there was still truth to be ascertained is an underdeveloped argument.

In Filipowicz v. American Stores Benefit Plans Comm., the 7th Circuit Court stated that the appellate court will not search the record for an alleged abuse of discretion. *Filipowicz v. American Stores Benefit Plans Comm.*, 56 F.3d 807, 816 (7th Cir. 1995). Furthermore, if an appellant fails to make a minimally complete and comprehensible argument for each of his or her claims, he or she loses regardless of the merits of these claims as they might have appeared on a fuller presentation. *Tyler v. Runyon*, 70 F.3d 458, 465 (7th Cir. 1995).

Additionally, in State v. Petit, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals stated that when arguments are supported by only general statements, the Court may decline to review issues inadequately briefed. *State v. Petit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

The State argues that Mr. Thornburg has presented an undeveloped argument regarding the Trial Court ending Mr. Thornburg's witness statements while there is truth to be ascertained. The reasoning for this argument is that Mr. Thornburg was asked by the Trial Court if he any other witnesses that he wished to call (R 14;28). Mr. Thornburg replied, "no sir." *Id.*

Therefore, the State argues that Trial Court did not end Mr. Thornburg's witness statements when there was truth to be ascertained, instead Mr. Thornburg ended his own testimony by stating that he did not have any more witnesses to call. Additionally, the State respectfully requests that the appellate court respectfully decline to review this argument made by Mr. Thornburg as it supported by only general statements.

Thus, the State respectfully requests that the Appellate Court affirm the Trial Court's Judgment in the above-mentioned matter.

II.4. The State respectfully disagrees with Mr. Thornburg's argument that the State misspoke in his closing arguments and stated statements that Mr. Thornburg did not make and spoke on issues that had not been proven by the evidence of the

case. The Trial Court did not err in failing to recognize or acknowledge this allegation made by Mr. Thornburg.

It is the function of the trial court, not the Court of Appeals, to assess the weight and credibility of witnesses. *Mullen v. Braatz*, 50 N.W.2d 446, 179 Wis. 2d 749 (App. 1993). Venom, arrogance, and *ad hominem* attacks are not to be condoned, whether they are by a member of the practicing bar or by a person acting pro se. *Strook v. Kedinger*, 2009 WI App. 31, 316 Wis. 548, ¶ 6 and n.3, 766 N.W.2d 219 (2009).

The State argues that they showed and followed their duty of candor toward the court, as it is central to the truth seeking function of any court. SCR 20:3.3. Additionally, the Trial Court found that Mr. Thornburg was guilty of Wis. Stat. § 346.57(2) after hearing evidence from Trooper Christian, watching Trooper Christian's dash cam video, and from Mr. Thornburg's statements. Therefore, the Trial Court did not err in finding Mr. Thornburg guilty of violating Wis. Stat. §346.57(2).

The State respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Trial Court's judgment in the above-mentioned matter.

II.5. Mr. Thornburg's Argument that Trooper Christian contradicted himself during testimony and that it was not recognized by the Trial Court is an underdeveloped argument.

It is the function of the Trial Court to assess the weight and credibility of the witnesses and not the Appellate Court. *Mullen v. Braatz*, 50 N.W.2d 446, 179 Wis. 2d 749 (App. 1993). Furthermore, in Petit, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals stated that when arguments are supported by only general statements, the Court may decline to review issues inadequately briefed. *State v. Petit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Here the State argues that Mr. Thornburg's argument regarding Trooper Christian's testimony is inadequately briefed and respectfully requests the Appellate Court decline to review this argument. Additionally, it is the function of the Trial Court to assess weigh the witnesses' credibility.

The State respectfully requests that the Appellate Court affirm the Trial Court's judgment in the above-mentioned matter.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court respectfully should affirm the trial court judgment in this matter.